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THE
PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE
STATE OF COLORADO

RULES REGULATING SAFETY FOR MOTOR VEHICLE CARRIERS
AND ESTABLISHING CIVIL PENALTIES

4 CODE OF COLORADO REGULATIONS (CCR) 723-15
BASIS, PURPOSE AND STATUTORY AUTHORITY


The basis and purpose of these rules is to provide minimum requirements for the regulation of motor vehicle safety, hours of service of drivers, and qualification of motor vehicle drivers for common carriers by motor vehicle, contract carriers by motor vehicle, and motor vehicle carriers exempt from regulation as public utilities, and to provide penalties for the violation thereof.


These amendments are intended to update the existing rules so that they may be consistent with the most recent published safety regulations of the Federal Highway Administration of the United States Department of Transportation and the Colorado Department of Public Safety, and the most recent amendments to the Colorado Revised Statutes.


The statutory authority for the adoption of these rules is §§ 40-2-108, 40-2-116, 40-10-105(2)(c), 40-10-111, 40‑11‑105(1), 40-16-105, and 24-4-103(12.5)(a), C.R.S.
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RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-1.  APPLICABILITY.
These rules shall apply to all intrastate motor vehicle carriers defined in § 40-10-101(4)(a), C.R.S., all intrastate contract carriers by motor vehicle defined in § 40-11-101(3), C.R.S., and all intrastate motor vehicle carriers exempt from regulation as public utilities defined in § 40-16-101(4), C.R.S., except property carriers operating vehicles with a manufacturer’s gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) or gross combination weight rating (GCWR) of 26,001 pounds or more.  Motor carriers operating commercial vehicles as defined in § 42-4-235(1)(a)(I), C.R.S.; towing carriers defined in § 40‑13-101(3), C.R.S., and described as commercial vehicles in § 42-4-235(1)(a)(II), C.R.S.; and carriers of hazardous materials and nuclear materials under Article 20 of Title 42, C.R.S., are subject to the safety rules of the Colorado Department of Public Safety.

RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-2.  INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE.

723-15-2.1
Except as otherwise provided in these rules, the Commission incorporates by reference the regulations published in Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations § 1308.11, revised as of April 1, 1999, and Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Parts 40, 382, 383, 390, 391, 392, 393, 395, 396, and 399, and Appendix G to Subchapter B of Chapter III, revised as of October 1, 1998.  No later amendments to or editions of the Code of Federal Regulations are incorporated into these rules.

723-15-2.2
The title, address and telephone number of the person employed by the Commission from whom information concerning how the material incorporated by reference may be obtained or examined is:

Chief, Transportation Section
Colorado Public Utilities Commission
1580 Logan Street, OL2
Denver, Colorado 80203
Telephone (303) 894-2000, extension 355.

723-15-2.3
The material incorporated by reference may be examined at the offices of the Commission, 1580 Logan Street, OL2, Denver, Colorado 80203, between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, except when such days are state holidays.

723-15-2.4
The material incorporated by reference may be examined also at any state publications library.

RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-3.  CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS NOT INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE.  

The following sections of 49 C.F.R., Parts 382, 383, 390, 391, 393, 395, and 396 are not incorporated by reference:  49 C.F.R. §§ 382.507, 383.53, 390.3(c), 390.5 [definition of commercial motor vehicle], 390.21, 390.37, Subpart D of Part 390, 391.11(b)(1), 391.67, 391.68, 391.69, 393.5 [definition of “bus”], 395.l(h), 395.l(i), 395.8(e), and 396.9.
RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-4.  DEFINITIONS.

723-15-4.1
Bus.  A motor vehicle designed, constructed, and used for the transportation of passengers.  This definition of “bus” is applicable only to the provisions of these Rules Regulating Safety for Motor Vehicle Carriers and Establishing Civil Penalties.
723-15-4.2
Commission.  The Public Utilities Commission of the State of Colorado.  Any reference to the Department of Transportation of the United States, the Federal Highway Administration, a DOT Agency, or any other federal agency in any provision of the Code of Federal Regulation adopted by reference in these rules shall be construed to refer to the Commission.

723-15-4.3
Commercial motor vehicle.  A motor vehicle operated by a motor vehicle carrier subject to regulation under articles 10, 11, or 16 of Title 40, C.R.S.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of the incorporated rules found in Part 382 (concerning drug and alcohol testing), the definition of commercial motor vehicle shall be as found in § 382.107; and for purposes of the incorporated rules found in Part 383 (concerning commercial driver’s licenses) the definition of commercial motor vehicle shall be as found in § 383.5.

723-15-4.4
Gross combination weight rating (GCWR).  Gross combination weight rating means the same as gross combination rating, as that phrase is used throughout Title 40 of the Colorado Revised Statutes.

723-15-4.5
Motor vehicle carrier.  A person, lessee, trustee, receiver, or trustee appointed by any court owning, controlling, operating, or managing any motor vehicle used in serving the public in the business of transporting persons for compensation as a common carrier or contract carrier over any public highway of this state between fixed points or over established routes, or otherwise; or a person who offers services as a motor carrier exempt from regulation as a public utility.

723-15-4.6
Motor vehicle carrier exempt from regulation as a public utility.  A motor carrier who offers services using a charter or scenic bus, a luxury limousine, an off-road scenic charter, a children’s activity bus, or who offers services as a property carrier by motor vehicle.

723-15-4.7
Motor vehicle.  An automobile, truck, tractor, bus, or other self-propelled vehicle or any trailer drawn thereby operated by a motor vehicle carrier, except a motor vehicle operated upon fixed rails, a motor vehicle used in an “amusement ride” defined in § 40-10-101(3), C.R.S., a  motor vehicle used in a ridesharing arrangement defined in § 10-4-707.5(2), C.R.S., and a motor vehicle used in a people service transportation defined in § 40-1.1-102(5), C.R.S. 

723-15-4.8
Property carrier by motor vehicle.  A motor vehicle carrier who transports the property of others for compensation, in intrastate commerce, upon the public highways of this state by use of a motor vehicle with a GVWR or GCWR of less than 26,001 pounds , except a towing carrier defined in § 40-13-101(3), C.R.S.

723-15-4.9
Taxicab.  A motor-driven passenger vehicle defined in § 40-16-101(8), C.R.S., and the Rules, Regulations, and Civil Penalties Governing Common Carriers of Passengers by Motor Vehicle, 4 CCR 723-31-2.13.

RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-5.  MODIFICATIONS OF PROVISIONS ON QUALIFICATION AND EXAMINATION OF DRIVERS.

723-15-5.1
49 C.F.R., Part 391, shall not apply to drivers of motor vehicles with a gross vehicle weight rating (“GVWR”) or GCWR of less than 10,001 pounds that are operated by a property carrier by motor vehicle, that do not require a commercial driver’s license to operate, and that are not used as a bus.

723-15-5.2
49 C.F.R., Part 391, Subpart E - Physical Qualifications and Examinations, shall not apply to drivers of motor vehicles with a GVWR or GCWR of less than 26,001 pounds that are operated by a property carrier by motor vehicle, that do not require a commercial driver’s license to operate, and that are not used as a bus.

723-15-5.3
49 C.F.R. § 391.21, relating to an application for employment, and 49 C.F.R. § 391.23(a)(2), relating to an investigation of the driver’s employment record, shall not apply to an individual operating as a motor vehicle carrier who employs himself/herself as a driver of a bus designed to transport 15 passengers or less, including the driver, and does not require a commercial driver’s license to operate.  49 C.F.R. § 391.21 and 391.23(a)(2) shall apply to all other drivers in accordance with these rules.

723-15-5.4
All drivers of motor vehicles shall be at least eighteen years old and shall meet all of the qualifications for drivers set forth in 49 C.F.R. § 391.11, except that drivers operating motor vehicles used in interstate commerce or motor vehicles used in transporting hazardous materials of a type and quantity that would require the motor vehicle to be marked or placarded under 49 C.F.R. § 177.823 shall be at least 21 years old.

723-15-5.5
The exception contained in 49 C.F.R. § 391.49(b) relating to the filing by a driver of a unilateral application for a waiver of the driver’s qualification shall not apply to these rules.

RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-6.  MODIFICATIONS OF PROVISIONS ON PARTS AND ACCESSORIES NECESSARY FOR SAFE OPERATION.


723-15-6.1
The provisions of 49 C.F.R. § 393.83(c) and (d) shall not apply to any bus with a seating capacity of 15 people or less, including the driver, which is manufactured with a side discharge exhaust.

723-15-6.2
The provisions of 49 C.F.R. § 393.89 relating to driveshaft protection shall not apply to any bus with a seating capacity of 15 people or less, including the driver.

723-15-6.3
The provisions 49 C.F.R. § 393.95(a) relating to fire extinguishers shall not apply to any bus with a seating capacity of 15 people or less, including the driver.

723-15-6.4
The following provisions of 49 C.F.R., Part 393, shall not apply to a motorcycle as defined in § 42‑1‑102(55), C.R.S., or to a motor-driven cycle as defined in § 42-1-102(56), C.R.S.:

723-15-6.4.1
Sections 393.11 and 393.24(b) requiring at least two head lamps.  These vehicles shall have at least one headlamp.

723-15-6.4.2
Section 393.41 requiring parking brakes.  These vehicles shall carry sufficient chocking blocks to prevent movement when parked.

723-15-6.4.3
Section 393.51 requiring service brake system warning devices and gauges.

723-15-6.4.4
That part of § 393.65(d) prohibiting gravity feed to supply fuel to the carburetor or injector.

RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-7.  MODIFICATIONS OF PROVISIONS ON HOURS OF SERVICE OF DRIVERS.

723-15-7.1
49 C.F.R., Part 395, shall not apply to drivers of motor vehicles with a GVWR or GCWR of less than 10,001 pounds that are operated by a property carrier by motor vehicle, that do not require a commercial driver’s license to operate, and that are not used as a bus.

723-15-7.2
49 C.F.R. §§ 395.3(a)(2) and 395.8 shall not apply to 100-air-mile-radius drivers operating motor vehicles with a GVWR or GCWR of less than 10,001 pounds and that are designed to transport 15 people or less, including the driver, if:

723-15-7.2.1
The driver operates within a 100 air-mile radius of the normal work reporting location; and

723-15-7.2.2
The driver, except a driver salesperson, returns to the work reporting location and is released from work within 16 consecutive hours; and

723-15-7.2.3
At least eight consecutive hours off duty separate each 16 hours on duty; and

723-15-7.2.4
The driver does not exceed 10 hours maximum driving time following eight consecutive hours off duty; and

723-15-7.2.5
The motor carrier that employs the driver maintains and retains accurate and true time records for a period of six months showing:

723-15-7.2.5.1
The time the driver reports for duty each day; and

723-15-7.2.5.2
The time the driver is released from duty each day; and

723-15-7.2.5.3
The total number of hours the driver is on duty each day; and

723-15-7.2.5.4
The total time for the preceding seven days in accordance with 49 C.F.R. §395.8(j)(2) for drivers used for the first time or intermittently.

723-15-7.3
49 C.F.R. § 395.3(b) shall not apply to drivers who, in any eight consecutive days, operate only vehicles (i) having a GVWR or GCWR of less than 10,001 pounds and (ii) designed to transport 15 people or less, including the driver.

723-15-7.3.1
If, pursuant to Rule 7.3, 49 C.F.R § 395.3(b) does not apply, then a motor vehicle carrier shall not permit nor require a driver to drive, nor shall any such driver drive, regardless of the number of motor carriers using the driver’s services, for any period after:

723-15-7.3.1.1
Having been on duty 70 hours in any seven consecutive days if the employing motor carrier does not operate commercial motor vehicles every day of the week; or

723-15-7.3.1.2
Having been on duty 80 hours in any eight consecutive days if the employing motor carrier operates commercial motor vehicles every day of the week.
723-15-7.4
Failure to complete the record of duty activities of section 395.8 or 395.15, failure to preserve a record of such duty activities, or making of false reports in connection with such duty activities shall make the driver and/or the carrier subject to civil penalties.
RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-8.  MODIFICATIONS OF PROVISIONS ON INSPECTION OF MOTOR VEHICLES IN OPERATION.

723-15-8.1
The Driver/Vehicle Inspection Report provided by the Commission to the motor vehicle carrier shall be used to record the results of a motor vehicle inspection conducted by authorized personnel of the Commission.

723-15-8.2
Authorized personnel shall declare “out of service” any motor vehicle which by reason of its mechanical condition or loading would likely cause an accident or a breakdown.  The Driver/Vehicle Inspection Report declaring a motor vehicle and/or a motor vehicle driver “out of service” shall constitute notice to the motor vehicle driver and the motor vehicle carrier that a motor vehicle and/or a motor vehicle driver has been declared “out of service.”  

723-15-8.3
No motor carrier shall require or permit any person to operate nor shall any person operate any motor vehicle declared “out of service” until all repairs required by the out-of-service notice have been satisfactorily completed.  No motor carrier shall require or permit any person declared “out of service” to operate any motor vehicle until the driver’s out-of-service condition has been corrected.  The term “operate” as used in this section shall include towing the vehicle, except that vehicles declared “out of service” may be towed away by means of a vehicle using a crane or hoist.  A vehicle combination consisting of an emergency towing vehicle and an out-of-service vehicle shall not be operated unless such combination meets the performance requirements of  these rules except for those conditions noted on the Driver/Vehicle Inspection Report.

723-15-8.4  Motor Carrier Disposition.

723-15-8.4.1
The driver of any motor vehicle receiving an inspection report shall deliver it to the motor carrier operating the vehicle upon his/her arrival at the next terminal or facility.  If the driver is not scheduled to arrive at a terminal or facility of the motor carrier operating the vehicle within 24 hours, the driver shall immediately mail the report to the motor carrier.

723-15-8.4.2
Motor carriers shall examine the report.  Violations or defects noted thereon shall be corrected.

723-15-8.4.3
Within 15 days following the date of the inspection, the motor carrier shall certify that all violations noted on the report have been corrected by completing the “Carrier Official’s Signature, Title, and Date” portions of the report; and

723-15-8.4.4
Return the completed report to the Commission at the address shown on the report and retain a copy for 12 months from the date of the inspection at the motor carrier’s principal place of business or where the vehicle is housed.

723-15-8.5
The provisions for periodic inspections, inspector qualifications, periodic inspection record keeping and equivalent to periodic inspections contained in 49 C.F.R. §§ 396.17, 396.19, 396.21, and 396.23 shall apply only to motor vehicles with a GVWR or GCWR of 10,001 pounds or more that are operated by a property carrier by motor vehicle; or to motor vehicles designed to transport 16 people or more, including the driver; or to motor vehicles used in the transportation of hazardous materials in a quantity requiring placarding under regulations issued under the Hazardous Material Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. § 5101 et seq.

RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-9.  FILING OF REPORTS.
All reports required by 49 C.F.R., Parts 40, 382, 383, 390, 391, 392, 393, 395, 396, and 399 shall be filed with the Commission at its business address, 1580 Logan Street, OL2, Denver, CO 80203.

RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-10.  INSPECTION OF RECORDS AND VEHICLES.
All records required to be made by these rules and all motor vehicles subject to these rules shall be made available for inspection upon request by authorized personnel of the Commission.

RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-11.  WAIVER FROM RULES.

The Commission may grant a variance from Rules 723-15-1 through 723-15-10 for good cause shown if it finds that compliance is impossible, impracticable or unreasonable, if such variance is not contrary to law.
723-15-11.1
A copy of any written waiver shall be carried in the motor vehicle affected by the waiver.  

723-15-11.2
A copy of any written waiver shall be carried on the person affected by the waiver and a copy shall be maintained in that person’s driver qualification file.

[Current Rule 723-15-12, formerly found here, has been moved to Proposed Rule 723-15-11.]

RULE (4 CCR) 723-15-12.  VIOLATIONS - CIVIL ENFORCEMENT - CIVIL PENALTIES.

723-15-12.1
Every person who operates a motor vehicle who intentionally violates any provision of 49 C.F.R. §§ 382.115, 382.201, 382.205, 382.207, 382.209, 382.211, 382.213(a) or (b), or 382.215, relating to drug and alcohol use and testing, may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $400 for each violation.

723-15-12.2
Every person who operates a motor vehicle who intentionally violates any of the following provisions may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $400 for each violation:

723-15-12.2.1
The person is not physically qualified as required by 49 C.F.R. §§ 391.11(a) and 391.11(b)(4); or

723-15-12.2.2
The person does not have a currently valid motor vehicle operator’s license as required by 49 C.F.R. §§ 391.11(a) and (b)(5); or

723-15-12.2.3
The person is disqualified from driving a motor vehicle as provided in 49 C.F.R. § 391.15.

723-15-12.3
Every person who operates a motor vehicle who intentionally violates any provision of 49 C.F.R. § 392.3, relating to an ill or fatigued driver; § 392.4(a) or (b), relating to drug prohibition; § 392.5(a) or (b), relating to alcohol prohibition; § 392.9(a), relating to safe loading; or 392.62(c), relating to baggage and freight stowage and securement, may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $400 for each violation.

723-15-12.4
Every person who operates a motor vehicle who intentionally violates any provision of 49 C.F.R. §§ 395.3(a)(1) or (2), or 395.3(b)(1) or (2), relating to maximum driving time, may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $400 for each violation.

723-15-12.5
Every person who operates a motor vehicle who intentionally violates any provision of the Code of Federal Regulations, incorporated by reference in these rules, except as provided for in Rules 723-15-12.1 through 723-15-12.4, may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $200 for each violation.

723-15-12.6
Every person who operates a motor vehicle who intentionally violates that part of Rule 723-15-5.4, relating to the driver’s age; or any provision of Rule 723-15-7.3.1, relating to maximum driving time; or any provision of Rule 723‑15‑8.3, relating to the operation of an out-of-service motor vehicle or an out-of-service driver operating a motor vehicle, may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $400 for each violation.

723-15-12.7
Every person who operates a motor vehicle who intentionally violates any other rule of these rules, except as provided for in Rule 723-15-12.6, may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $200 for each violation.
723-15-12.8  Driver and Owner Violations.

723-15-12.8.1
Any owner or other person employing a driver or independent contractor within the meaning of Article 11.5 of Title 40, C.R.S., who operates a motor vehicle in violation of these rules as set forth in Rules 723-15-12.1 through 723-15-12.7 may be assessed a civil penalty in the amount stated in such rules if such owner or person knows or had reason to know that the driver was engaged in such violation, or directs the driver to operate the motor vehicle in violation of such rules.
723-15-12.8.2
Any civil penalty provided for in Rule 723-15-12.8.1 shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any civil penalty against the actual driver, and any such penalty may be assessed upon the initial violation by such owner or other person.

723-15-12.9
Each day in which an owner, person, driver, or independent contractor violates the provisions of these rules for which a civil penalty may be assessed may constitute a separate violation.

723-15-12.10
Any person shall be deemed to have intentionally violated a provision of these rules if, after having been issued a written notification of such violation, such person violates the same provision again.  An intentional violation may be shown also by other facts, circumstances, or conduct.

723-15-12.11  Repeat Violations of Statutes or Rules.

723-15-12.11.1
If any person receives a second civil penalty assessment for a violation of these rules as set forth in Rules 723-15-12.1 through 723-15-12.7 within one year after the first violation, the civil penalty assessed for such second violation may be two times the amount specified in Rules 723-15-12.1 through 723-15-12.7.

723-15-12.11.2
If any person receives more than two civil penalty assessments for violation of these rules as set forth in Rules 723-15-12.1 through 723-15-12.7 within one year, the civil penalty assessed for each such subsequent violation may be three times the amount specified in Rules 723-15-12.1 through 723-15-12.7.

723-15-12.12
Civil penalties provided for in this rule shall not apply to persons transporting nuclear materials who commit violations of §§ 42-20-406(3), 42-20-407, or 42-20-505, C.R.S., or to persons transporting hazardous material who commit violations of § 42-20-204, C.R.S., as provided in § 40‑7-112(2), C.R.S.
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